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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
. FOR THE DiISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KATHLEEN FLAKE, et al.,
Plaintiffs,
v.

.

WILLIAM J. BENNETT, et al.,

- Civil Action No. 84-3632

Defendants.

e S i Nl el N P P St P

ORDER
YAMES E. DAVEY, (e
A heafing was held in this case on March 22, 1985. Upon
consideration of plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment and
defendants' croés—motion for summary judgment, the oppostions
£heret9, and the aréuments of counsel, and for the reasons set
forth in an accompanying memorandum, it is this é{iﬁ?day of
: ) .
March, 1985, hereby l
| ORDERED: that plaintiffs'” motion for summary judgment be,
and is hereby, GRANTED; and itlis further
| ORDERED: that defendants"' crésé~motion for summary judgment
be, and is hereby, DEN;ED; and‘it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGEg'and DECREED: that defendants are enjoined
" to promote;plaintiffs to the GS-14 positions to which plaintiffs
have applied, such promotions to be fetroactive in every respect
to August 1, 1984 for plaintiff Flaké, and Auguét 23, 1984 for
plaintiff belaney} and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGQD and DECLARED: that the GS-14 senior trial

attorney position to which plajntiffs have applied and to which

' | : TN



they have herewith been promoted may not lawfdlly be
characterized as "critical-sensitive" within the meaning of
Executive Order 10450 and Chaptef.732 of the Federal Personnel

Manual, and thus subject to a full security investigation.

i ?. Rerdr

~UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

" KATHLEEN FLAKE, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

Ve

Civil Action No. 84-3632

FILED
MAR 281385
JAMES E. DAVEY, Clerk

WILLIAM J. BENNETT, et al.,

Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM

On March 22, 1985, this'action came before the Court for a

hearing on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment.

"Plaintiffs'Kathleen Flake and William A. Delaney are GS-13 trial

attorneys in the Office for Civil Rights ("OCR") of the Depart-
ment of Education ("Department"). 1In April or May of 1984, both

plaintiffs applied fok promotion to the position of Senior Trial
Attorney, GS-14-905. HAceording to the official OCR job
description for that gqsition;‘a'Senior Trial Attorney is
résponsible for "advising the Assistant Secretary for Civil
-Rights on complaiht investigation;, cqmpliahce feviews and
negotiations prior to formal enforcement proceedings, the legal
" review of cases,prio;lﬁo findings of noncompliance and the
-assessmen£ and disposition of appeals, filed by complainant
abpellants_from findings and determinations reached in the
Regional offices.” Exhibit B to Flake Affidavit (February 14,
1985). Hé or_she is also "expected to work in conjunction with
lawyers froﬁ the Depértmeﬁt.of Justice, in the litigation of

trials and appeals (primarily in federal courts), [and] in

pertinent cases in which the Department is a party, or has an

¢



interest." Id. The occupant of the position must also "have an

authoritative knowledge of the civil rights laws, related case
law, and rules and regulations administéred by the Office for
Civil Rights." Id4. The job description makes no mention of any
activity or responsibility involved &ith the protection of the
United Statés from internal subversion or foreign aggression.

Nevertheless, the position has been designated "critical-~-

sensitive" pursuant to the Department'’'s personnel security

) prégram. As a result, the Department refused to process the

plaintiffs’ apﬁlications in the absence of completed Standard

‘Form 86 and ancillary forms, which would have subjected

plaintiffs“té a full field security investigation.

At approximately the same timeythat plaintiffs filed their
applications, ﬁary VonEuler applied for promotion to Senior Trial
Attorney. On Septembér 6, 1984, after being told that the
position had beén degignated "critical-sensitive,” she.subhitted
the required forms ana'consentgd to a full investigation. She
was promoted to GS-14 on October 22, 1984.

Although several other GS-14 and GS-15 employees in OCR are

"ecritical-sensitive" employees, only VonEuler and the plaintiffs

“were asked to submit‘id a full field investigation as a condition

" of promotion. The plaintiffs view the full investigation

réquiremenf as an unwarranted invasion of privacy and as a
violation of equal protection principles. They also contend, at
the threshéld, that the Department's designation of the GS-14
position as. “critiCﬁi—sensitive” is inconsistent with the Supreme

Court’'s interpretation of the Act .of August 26, 1950, 64 Stat.



'476, 477, and Executive Order 10450, which prévide the basis for
security designations like the one at issue here. 1In support of

the latter proposition, the plaihtiffs cite Cole v. Young, 351

U.S. 536 (1956), in which the Supreme Court held that neither the
Act nor the Executive Order applied to the posiéion of an
employee whose work did not involve the national security.

~This suit was filed on November 30, 1984. On January 6,
1984 the defendant Office of Personnel Manaéement'puflished a
.‘revision of, among other thinqs, the portions of the Federal
Personnel Mandai (FPM) that govern personnel security programs
unéer the Executive Order. Sometime duriné February of 1984, the
- Department began to consider how to reevaluate its personnel
security program in light of the FPM revision. The Department
has now decided to éolicit a consultant to review and recommend
revisions to the persbnnel security program.

. }:
The Department has determined that it will not make a final

decision on its security desié%ations until the outside
consultant makes its récommendations. .During.the hearing on the
'pénding cross-motions for summary'judgment,'couhsel for the
defendants represented that the consultant's evaluation may not
be completed fof‘over a year. The Department represents that,
:pending the completion of this independent evaluation, it will
not impose its personnel security reguirements on the plain-
tiffs. According to affidavits submitted by the defendants on
the eve of the heéring in this case, plaintiffs' applications

have been processed and the plaintiffs promoted, effective

retroactive to October 22, 1984. ~Affidavit of John C. Yazurlo



i

'(March 18, 1985) at € 8; Affidavit of Peggy B. Holly (March 18,

18985). At the March 22 hearing, however, counsel revealed that
plaintiffs had not yet been informed of ‘their promotions, and
that Standard Form 50, which officially documents personnel
actibn, had not yet been prepared.

I.

The defendants argue that this case is moot hecause the
plaintiffs have ‘obtained all of the relief that they requested in
their complaint. However, the plaintiffs sought, among other
things,

a declaratory judgment that

the national security clearance
requirement imposed by defendants
on plaintiffs is unlawful, un-
constitutional, and therefore
invalid and that plaintiffs' ap-
plications for promotion should be
. considered and processed as of the
date plaintiffs submitted their
requests for promotion.

Complaint, Prayer for ‘Relief, ¥.3. Flake avers that her

application was complete but that the Department quit processing

it when it was received by the Office of the Inspector General's

Security Officer on August 1, 1984. Flake Affidavit (March 13,

- 1985) at ¢ 4. Delaney ‘states that the Seéurity Officer received

" his appliéation on Rugust 23, 1984. Delaney Affidavit (March 20,

1985) at € 3. These statements are supported by a Memorandum
from Helene Deramond to Antonio J. Califa dated August 30,
1984, §Eggattachment to Flake Affidavit (March 13, 1985). 1t
appears that but foE the challenged security investigation

requirement, the plaintiffs' applications were complete and they
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would have been promoted in August, two months before the October

22 retroactive date determined by the defendantshl/ Thus, there
is a live controversy because thé’plaintiffs have not received

the relief to which they claim they are entitled, i.e., that

their- applications be "considered and processed.as of the date

plaintiffs submitted their requests for promotion" (emphasis

added).

- . Moreover, there is another sense in which the plaintiffs

. _have not yet received the relief that they have requested. At

the hearing on‘the pending motions, coﬁnsel for defendants
conéeded that the forms that would make pléihtiffs( promotions
official ha;é not yet beén produced. A purported promotion is
without effect in the absence of proper supporting

documentation. See Wilson v. United States, No. 324-81C, slip

op. 2 (Ct. Cl. 1981) /("a Government employee is entitled only to
the rights and‘salar§~of'the position to which he has actually
been appointed by one having the authority to do so").

Accordingly, there is at this point still a controversy as to

‘'whether or not the plaintiffs must be promoted.

In any event, a live controversy remains because the

1/ The inference that the October 22 date was arbitrarily

selected by the Department is supported by the fact that it is
the effective promotion date for VonEuler and the two plaintiffs,
even though each of them applied on different dates and even
though the plaintiffs' applications were received by the Security-
Officer before VonEuler's. Moreover, defendants concede that the
plaintiffs' supervisory recommendations had been approved by mid-
August, and that it was at that point that the required Standard
Forms. 52 ("Request fpr Personnel Action') were transmitted to the
Department's Office of Inspector General for review under the
personnel security program. Yazurlo Affidavit (March 18, 1985)
at ¢ 3. .

¢ ’ _5_ ‘



.deféndants have not conceded what the plaintiffs asked the Court
to declare -- that the challenged security program is unlawful.
The mere voluntary cessation of'the secu;ity program pending its
reevaluation does not moot this dispute.

‘The security review requirement éffects both applicants and
holders of the Senior Trial Attorney_position. Thus, the fact
that plaintiffs have been promoﬁed does not mean that they will
be immune from sécugity~review should the Departmgnt_phoosé to
:““enforce the program once again.: Moreover, the defendants have
conceded that'git is possible that upon completion of the
De%artmenﬁ‘s reevaluation, plaintiffs' positions may be
designated”c;itical-sensitive with ﬁhe recurrence of the
challenged peréonnel security prqcédures « +» o «" Memorandum of °
iPoints and Autﬁorities in Support of Defendants' Cross Motion for
Summary Judgment at 11. The decision to seek the opinion of a
consultant cannét begéroperly characterized as a “ces;ation" at
all -~ the defendantsghave expressly and impliedly reserved the
right to enforce the cﬁallenéedlsecurity program as they see fit,
and have not formally rescinded it by rulemaking or otherwise.

Indeed, the Department's.past behavior -- about which there
- appears to be no dispute -- highlights the risk that the
- defendants willléuickly return to their "old ways"zj if the Court
does not issue a decision on the merits. In .the Spring of 1983,
Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights Harry M. Singleton notifed

the senior staff of OCR that the Department had determined that

2

-3/ See United States v. W. T. Grant Co., 345 U.S. 629, 632
(1953Y). .
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éecﬁrity investigations would be required for OCR Series 905
attorneys, whose positions had been designated “critical-
| sensitive." Virtually all of thé'6CR‘s staff signed a petition
that stated, aﬁong other things,‘that "[blecause we cannot
perceive any link between our jobs and national security, and
because none has 5¢en explained, we are reluctant to participate
in a process that will involve a subétantial invasion of our
privacy." Flake Affidavit (February 14, 1985); gxhi@it M. 1In
theAface of this reaétion and the unf;vorable press about the
dispute, the Deﬁartment'é Inspector Géneral elected to delay the
impiementatiqn of the personnel securityApfogram in the OCR.
- Singleton 1;£er informed his staff tﬁat no more security forms
should be submitted because the Inspector General had decided to
reconsider the éensitivity of the OCR positions. Flake Affidavit
(Februarf 14, 1985), Exhibit O. The security investigation

) .
requirement was not imposed again until, without prior notice,
the plaintiffs were iﬁformed that their applications would not be
approved unless tﬁey campleted forms consenting to a full
'sécufity investigation. It is apparent, therefore, that the
Department's promise to reconsider its program does not
necessarily mean.that the challenged action will be stopped.

Under the éircumstances, the Supreme Court's admonition in

United States v. W.T. Grant Co., 345 U.S. 629 (1953), is

particulariy appropriate:

[V]oluntary cessation of allegedly
illegal conduct does not deprive the
tribunal of power to hear and
determine the case, i.e., does not
make the case moot. . . . The
defendant is free to return to his olad

. : -7-



ways. This, together with a public
interest in having the legality of the
practices settled, militates against a
mootness conclusion.
Id. at 632 (citations and footnote omitted). Given the
defehdants' concession that the challenged practice could be

reimposed on the plaintiffs, and the Department's past behavior,

it is not "absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior

could not reasonably be expected to recur."  United States v.

- Concentrated Phosphate Export Ass'n., 393 U.S. 199, 203 (1968);

see also City of Mesquite v. Aladdin's Castle, Inc., 455 U.S.

285, 289 (1982). Accordingly, there is still a “"live"
controversy in this case; |

Nevertheléss, the dgfendants argue fhat the controversy is
.not yet ripe fgr adfudication because the reevaluation of the
Department's securitx;program may yield something quite different
from what the piaintiff's are challenging. This claiﬁ appears to
bé no more than a variation orr defendants' mootness argument and
is answerable in the s;me way: a practice is not less likely éd
Afecur because the defendants promise to reconsider the program,
rather than to abolish it altégether.

In determining ;ﬁether an agency's decision is ripe for
' adjudication, courts must "evaluate both the fitness of the
issues for— judicial decision and the hardship to the parties of

withholding court consideration." Abbott Laboratories v.

Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 148-49 (1967). An issue is fit for
decigion under the girst prong of the Abbott test if it is

"essentially legal" and "sufficiently final." Atlantic Richfield




-Co.'v. United States Department of Energy, No. 82-2472 slip pﬁ}
at 20-21 (D.C. Cir. December 27, 1984). Here, there is a |
concrete question susceptible toiﬁudicial review: whether or not
the Department of Education may lawfully impose a security
investigatiqn requirement on applicants for a pésition that does
not implicate naﬁional security concerns. That decision is final
in the sense that voluntarj cessatioﬁ does not prevent the
defendants from r;imposing what had been, until very-recently, a
- fﬁliy formed agency determination. Indeed, ripeness is not even
an issue insofaf as the éhallénged program prevented the
pléintiffs from being promoted before Octobef 22, 1984, and to
- the extent'éhat plaintiffs have not yet been officially
promoted. Asvté the second prong ©of the Abbott test, an
immediate decigion Qill reduce the potential hardship on all
parties ﬁo the litig;tion. The defendants will be in a better
position to juége th; neéessity and scope of the review that they
propose to pndertake,land the-plaintiffs will not be put to the
cost of reinstituﬁing éhis suit in the event that the defendants
'déciae to continue with the security program. For these reasons,
the controversy is ripe for decision.
o II.
As a second threshold defense, defendants argue that

Carducci v. Regan, 714 F.2d4 171 (D.C. Cir. 1983), deprives the

Court of subject matter jurisdiction over this action. Carducci -
addressed the narrow question of whether an agency personnel
action which was nbt;an alleged violation of constitutional

rights, but which had been’direct;y reviewable by district courts
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Jund;r the Administrative Procedure Act before.enactment of the
Civil Ser;ice Reform Act of 1978 (CSRA)E continues-to be
reviewable after enactment of the'CSRA. The Court held that a
"minor personnel action," which by definition does not rise to
the level of an "adverse action”" or a;”prohibitéd personnel
practice,” was not reviewable under the CSRA. Id. at 175.
Defgndants argue that the Deparﬁmen£ has taken no‘"adverse
action" against the plaintiffs and has not indulged in
—"piohibited personnel practices." Accordingly, the defendants
conclude that’éﬁe actions at issue here are not reviewable under
'thé CSRA,‘apd therefore are not reviewable at all.

But the action chalienged in tﬁis case is not an
unreviewable "minor personnel action" that applies to one
iindividual; raéher,-the plaintiffs attack a regulatory program

with broad applicati&n. The principles enunciated in Carducci

simply do not apply £o cases like this one. In National Treasury

Employees Union v. Devine, 733 F.2d 114 (D.C. Cir. 1984), which
inyolved a challenge to personnel regulations, our Court of .
Appeals rejected a similar CSRA defense with these words:

.It is one thing to say that when a
statute provides a detailed scheme of
administrative protection for defined
employment rights, less significant
employment rights of the same sort are
implicitly excluded and cannot form
the basis for the relief directly
through the courts. Cf. Carducci .
[,supral). It is quite different to
suggest . . . that a detailed scheme
of administrative adjudication
impliedly precludes preenforcement
judicial review of rules.

Id. at 117 n.8.

-10-



In any event, Carducci recognizes district court
- jurisdiction to consider constitutional challenges like the one

at issue here. 714 F.24 at 175-76: see also Andrade v. Lauer,

729 F.2d4 1475, 1491 (D.C. Cir. 1984). Since the plaintiffs have
raised first amendment, right to privacy, and ecual protection
issues, their action is not limited to the remedy provided by the
csra.3/ '

o IIX.
e The defendants have not responded to the plalntlffs
argument on the merits. The essential facts are undisputed.

The current personnel security program orlglnated in the Act

" of August 26, 1950 ("Act"), 64 Stat. 476, 477 codified in part at
5 U.s.C. §§ 3571, 7531 & 7532. The Act delegated to certain

listed officials and agenciesﬁ/'the authority to suspend, without

pay, civilian departqental employees "when deemed necessary in

the interest of national security." Section 3 of the Act
provided that "[tThe provisions of this Act shall apply to such

other departments and agencies of the Government as the President

3/ Defendants' argument that plaintiffs lack standing to raise
these constitutional issues is meritless. Even assuming the
‘dubious proposition that plaintiffs have not alleged a
sufficiently specific injury to their first amendment rights, the-
defendants'do not even pretend to respond to plaintiffs' right to
privacy and equal protection claims. This case is thus clearly
outside the limit that Carducci imposes on this Court's subject
matter jurlsdictzon.

4/ Specifically, the Attorney General, the secretaries of the
Departments of State, Commerce, Defense, the Army, the Navy, the
Air Force, the Coast?Guard,. and the Treasury, the Atomic Energy
Commission, the chairman of the National Security Resources
Board, and the director of the Wational Advisory Committee for

Aeronautics.



may, from time to time, deem neceésary in the best interests 6f
national security." See also 5 U.S.C. § 7531(g).

Pursuant to section 3, Présiaent Eisenhower issued Executive
Order 10450, which extends the Act "to all other departments and
agen;ies of the Government." ﬁxecuti&e Order 10450, § 1, 18 Fed.

Reg. 2489, as amended by Executive Order No. 10491, 18 Fed. Reg.

6583 (Oct. i3, 1953); see also Cole, supra, at 874-77. The Order
-alsé reguires eaéh Department and agency to estagli;ﬁ a personnel
sécurity'progrgm. Pursuant to section 3(b) of the Order and
supsequent moégéications,.a ﬁosition is to‘be designated

“critical-sensitive" and therefore subject to a full field

investigation if its occupant "could bring about, by virtue of

the nature of the position, a material adverse effect on the

national security . . . ." Employees seeking a "noncritical-

sensitive” position #fe required to undergo a less intrusive

"national agency check,“ an investigation to which the plaintiffs

=

do not object.

OPM is responsible for determining whether Jdepartments and

. agencies are complying with Executive Order 10450. It also

provides advice as to whether a position'should be designated

“eritical-sensitive,"” "noncritical-sensitive," or

"nonsensitive." Pursuant to the Order, OPM's predecessor,- the

Civil Service Commission, prepared a Federal Personnel Manual

which details the personnel security program. Although that

manual has been superseded, it provided the basis for the

challenged designations in this case. It defines "security" as

being .



concerned with the eﬁployment and

retention in employment of persons in

positions the duties of which relate

to the protection and preservation of

the military, economic, and productive

strength of the United States,

including the security of the

Government in domestic and forelgn

affairs, against or from espionage,

sabotage, and subversion, and any and

all other acts or situations likely to

weaken or destroy the United States.
Federal Personnel Manual 732-3 at 1-1 (1979); see also Federal
. Personnel Manual 732-3 at 1-1 (1984) (identical definition).
Department of Education Directive A:INS:1-100, which was issued
by the Department after it consulted with OPM about developing a
' personnel security program, lists five criteria to be considered
in deciding whether or not to designate a position "critical-
sensitive. n5/ The fifth criterion, which provides the basis for
the crltlcal—sen51t1ve designation of the GS-14 Senior Trial
Attorney position at issue here, see Answer at ¥ 27, asks only
whether the position involves;”[f]iduciary, public contact, or
other duties demandlng the hlghest degree of public trust.”

'Dlrectlve A:INS: l 100 at 7 (Flake Affldav1t (February 14, 1985),
Exhibit G).

Reliance opfsuci é sweeping-criterion is misplaced. The Act
-and Execu£ive Order 10450, as interpreted by the Supreme Court in-

Cole v. Young, 351 U.S. 536 (1956), prevent the defendants from

requiring full security investigations for positions that do not

2/ These criteria hre also listed in both the o0ld and new
Federal Personnel Manuals. - See Federal Personnel Manual
732~-3 at 2-3 (1984); Federal Personnel Manual 732 3 at 1- 3
(1979).

-13- | - -
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affect the national security of the United States. 1In Cole, a
_fobd and drug inspector of what was then the Department of
Health, Education and Welfare was dismissed from his job "in the
interest of the national security,"” purportedly under the
authority of the Act and Order. The Supreme Court held the
dismissal unlawful, and found that neither the Act nor Executive
Order 10450 applied to the position of the employee who had been
'dismissed. The Court reasoned that the Act.was intended to
’pérmit summary employee dischafges only in the interest of
national security and concluded that the position from which the
.émployee had been dismissed did not implicate national security
‘concerns. The Court observed that while the term "national
_ securityh

is not defined in the Act, we think it

clear from the statute as a whole that

that term was intended to comprehend

only those activities of the

Government that are directly concerned

with the protection of the nation from

foreign aggression, and not those

which contribute to the strength of

the Nation only through their impact

on the general welfare. :
351 U.S. at 544. The Court added that the scope of the Executive
" Order was similarly limited, because the defense and security-
6riented nature of the agencies named in the Act "indicates the
character of the determination required to effect . . . an
extension" under section 3 of the Act. Id. at 545. Moreover,
the Order was promulgated to implement the Act, id. at 557 n.20,

and its reach cannot extend beyond the Act's scope.

The defendants do not dispute the fact that the GS-~14 Senior



Trial Attorney position sought by the plalntlffs does not

_ 1mp11cate national security concerns. 6/ Cole teaches that it is

unlawful for the defendants to de51gnate such a position as
"critical-~sensitive,"” and thus to impose upon applicants for or
occupénts of that position the burden of undergoing a full field
investigation. Just as the Act's summary discharge procedure
could ﬁot be used against the plaintiff in Cole, Qhose job did

not involve the national security, here the full invgstigation

requirement cannot lawfully be imposed on a position the duties

of whlch do not 1mp11cate the concerns 1dent1f1ed in the Act and-
the Executive Order.

Becauge the Court concludes that neither the Act nor
Executive Order 10450 permits the defendants to impose such an
intrusive requirement on the position for which the plaintiffs

have applied, it is qbt necessary to reach the constitutional

issues that the plainﬁiffs raise. See New York City Transit

Authority v. Beazer, 440 U.S. 568, 582 (1979). An accompanying

order will enter Jjudgment for the plaintiffs..

£/ The plaintiffs ghpport this proposition with affidavits that

are not controverted by the defendants. See Flake Affidavit

"(February 14, 1985) at 9 6; Delaney Affidavit (February 14, 1985)
at ¥ 6. A-review of the position description of an OCR GS5-14-905"

Senior Trial Attorney confirms the accuracy of the assertions in
the affidavits that the responsibility of the position is "to
assist in the effort to fully monitor and enforce the civil
rights laws relating to education” and that "[t]here are no
responsibilities of these positions which involve protection of
the United States from internal subversion or foreign
aggression." Flake Affidavit (February 14, 1984) at 9 6; see
id., Exhibit B. The*affidavits also support the proposition that
the plalntlffs do not have custody of documents or materlals "the
compromise of which might endanger the country's security."’

Cole, supra, at 544.

A PP A | QZ"’;?W




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
. FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KATHLEEN FLAKE, et al.,
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ORDER
JAMES E, DAVEY‘ Clerk
A hearing was held in this case on March 22, 1985. Upon
consideration of plaintiffs' motion for summary Jjudgment and
defendants'’ croés—motion for summary judgment, the oppostions
iheretp, and the aréuments of counsel, and for the reasons set
forth in an accompanying memorandum, it is this é{ﬁﬁ?day of
: i .
March, 1985, hereby
| ORDERED: that pléintiffsf‘nbtion for summary Jjudgment be,
and is hereby, GRANTED; and it:is further
| ORDERED: that defendants' crésé—motion for summary 3judgment
be, -and is hereby, DENIED; and'it is further
-
ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED: that defendants are enjoined
" to promotelplaintiffs to the GS-14 positions to which plaintiffs
have applied, such promotions to‘be fetroactive in every respect
to August 1, 1984 for plaintiff Flaké, and Auguét 23, 1984 for
plaintiff belaney} and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDG&D and DFCLARED: <that the GS-14 senior trial

attorney position to which plajntiffs have applied and to which

s . ;) )



they have herewith been promoted may not lawfdlly be
characterized as "critical-sensitive" within the meaning of
Executive Order 10450 and Chaptef.732 of the Federal Personnel

Manual, and thus subject to a full security investigation.
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Before: ROBINSON, Chief Judge; WALD, Circuit Judge,
and PALMIERI, *Senior District Judge.

Opinion for the Court filed by Semior District Judge
PALMIERI. )

PALMIERI, Senior _District Judge: Harry Kenneth
Clark appeals from a final judgment entered in the Dis-
trict Court for the District of Columbia after a non-jury
trial dismissing his complaint against the Library of
Congress (“Library”) and Daniel J. Boorstin, the Li-
brarian of Congress. This case involves issues regarding
Clark’s right to freedom of belief and association guaran-
teed by the first amendment and a related claim that
Clark’s employment status with the Library was ad-
versely affected. For the reasons discussed below, we
reverse.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Clark was a reshelver of books at the Library between
1973 and 1979. Clark’s position was classified by the

Library as non-sensitive to any security interests. His -

duties were to shelve, circulate, and retrieve periodical
publications available to the public. The parties stipu-
lated that Clark had no access to classified material and
that he had no supervisory or policymaking responsibili-
ties. Clark had an excellent work record at the Library.

From January, 1973, through September, 1976, Clark
attended college part-time and worked full-time at the
Library. In September, 1976, Clark transferred to a part-
time position at the Library in order to attend college
full-time. While in college, Clark attended several meet-
ings of the Young Socialist Alliance (“YSA”), a lawful
political group affiliated with the Socialist Workers Party
(“SWP”), another lawful political group, and his name
was added to the mailing list of the YSA. “[T]he SWP

* Senior United States District Judge for the Southern Dis-
trict of New York, sitting by designation pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §294(d).
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does not advocate the use of violence. It seeks instead to
achieve social change through the political process, and
its members regularly run for public office.” Brown V.
Socialist Workers '74 Campaign Committee (Ohio), 459
U.S. 87, 88 (1982). Accord, Scythes v. Webb, 307 F.2d
905, 909 (7th Cir. 1962).

In 1975, several informers reported Clark’s YSA ac-
tivities to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”).
In January, 1976, the FBI notified the Civil Service Com-
mission of these activities, and the Commission in turn
informed the Library’s Personnel Security Office.

In June, 1976, the Library, in writing, requested the
FBI to conduct a five-part investigation into Clark’s po- -
litical beliefs and activities. The Library also asked the
FBI to develop any other information that might “reflect
adversely on his suitability for continued Federal em-
ployment.” * Testimony by Library personnel showed
that the Library expected Clark to be subjected by the
FBI to a “full field investigation,” and such an investiga-
tion was in fact carried out. During the course of this

‘investigation, the FBI interviewed eight of Clark’s co-

1The Library requested the FBI to develop information
relating to:

(1) his motivation for joining the YSA, (2) the na-
ture, extent and objectives of his involvement in YSA
activities, (3) any comments or conduct on his part
which indicates he is aware of and/or supports the phil-
osophy and objectives of the Socialist Workers Party/
Young Socialist Alliance, (4) whether or not he has indi-
cated or expressed advocacy of overthrowing the U.S.
Government by force, violence or other unlawful means,
and (6) whether or not any other information exists
which might give rise to a reasonable doubt as to SUB-
JECT’s loyalty to the United States or otherwise reflect

adversely on his suitability for continued Federal employ-
ment.

Letter from George E. Stringer, Library Personnel Security
Officer, to Clarence H. Kelley, FBI Director (June 16, 1976).
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workers, including his supervisors, at the Library. This
inquiry was not limited to Clark’s political beliefs.
Among other questions, the FBI asked about his activi-
ties while on vacation, about his involvement with reli-
gious groups, and whether Clark was a homosexual. The
FBI also interviewed four of Clark’s co-workers on ear-
lier jobs. Two of Clirk’s former teachers were inter-
viewed, along with three of his former neighbors in New
York and four of his or his family’s neighbors in Wash-
ington, D.C. The FBI also investigated Clark’s high
school and college records and sought information about
his parents, siblings, and grandmother. In addition, the
FBI checked the records of the Minneapolis, St. Paul,
and District of Columbia Police Department, the Hen-
nepin County, Minnesota, Sheriff’s Office, the Ramsey
County, Minnesota, Sheriff’s Office, the District of Co-
lumbia Bureau of Motor Vehicles, and the Civil Service
Commission Bureau of Personnel Investigation. The FBI
also investigated Clark’s credit record. None of these
checks provided. any information to suggest that Clark

was a security risk or otherwise unsuitable for federal -

employment.

Clark was aware of the investigation while it was go-
ing on and was acutely embarrassed by it. Moreover, as
a result of the investigation Clark’s family and friends
specifically advised Clark to cease his political activities.
The uncontradicted testimony established that Clark suf-
fered mental anguish and was chilled in the exercise of
his first amendment rights as a result of the investiga-
tion.

The FBI's report was forwarded to the Civil Service
Commission and then to the Library. The Library con-
cluded that no further investigative or adjudicative ac-
tion needed to be taken with respect to Clark on this
matter.

Clark graduated from college in May, 1977, and there-
upon sought to return to work full:time at the Library.

& e vp g T
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Over the next two years, Clark applied for forty low-
level, non-sensitive positions at the Library. The Li-
brary stipulated that he was qualified for at least 17 of
these positions. However, Clark was selected for none of
these positions. In January, 1979, Clark left the Library,
in part because of his failure to be promoted and in part
because his knees began to bother him. Through Free-
dom of Information Act requests, Clark obtained the FBI
files on the investigation of him and thereupon instituted
this action,

Clark made two claims at trial. First, he claimed that
given his low-level, non-sensitive, non-policymaking posi-
tion, the full field investigation violated his first amend-
ment rights of speech and association and invaded his
privacy. Clark’s second claim was for employment dis-
crimination—Clark claimed that his failure to obtain
any of the forty relatively low-level positions for which
he applied during 1977 through 1979 was the result of
his political beliefs and associations and the investigation
into those beliefs and associations. For relief, Clark
sought compensatory and punitive damages, an injunc-
tion against any Library requests for further investiga-
tions if he resumed work there, correction of his per-
sonnel records, and reinstatement in a position he would
have occupied had his constitutional rights not been vio-
lated.

II. THE LAWFULNESS OF THE INVESTIGATION

Clark claims that in view of his non-sensitive, non-
policymaking position, the full field investigation carried
out on him was unwarranted and violated his first amend-
ment rights of speech and association and invaded his
privacy. The district court declined to decide whether
Clark’s constitutional rights were violated by the investi-
gation. Rather, the court simply assumed, on the basis
of two cases decided in contexts very different from the
instant case, that the Library had a right to make some
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investigation into Clark’s employment suitability. Given
this premise, the district court held, without citing any
authority, that only the FBI and not the Library was
responsible if the investigation was unreasonably intru-
sive or inhibiting.?

Before turning to-the substance of Clark’s claims, we
must address the Library’s argument that Clark’s claim
is barred under the Supreme Court’s decision in Laird v.
Tatum, 408 U.S. 1 (1972). The Library relies upon
Laird for the proposition that Clark suffered no direct
injury to his first amendment rights and hence has no
standing to challenge the lawfulness of the investigation
carried out on him,

Laird involved a challenge to the “very existence” of an
Army data-gathering system designed to collect informa-
tion relating to civil disorders in the early 1970’s. Id. at
13. The plaintiffs in Laird claimed that they were chilled
in the exercise of their first amendment rights “not by
any specific action of the Army against them, [but] only
[by] the existence and operation of the intelligence gath-
ering and distributing system.” Id. at 8 (quoting Tatum
v. Laird, 444 F.2d 947, 953 (D.C. Cir. 1971). The Su-
preme Court stated the issue in Laird as being “whether
the jurisdiction of a federal court may be invoked by a
complainant who alleges that the exercise of his first
amendment rights is being chilled by the mere existence,
without more, of a governmental investigative and data-
gathering activity that is alleged to be broader in scope
than is reasonably necessary for the accomplishment of a
valid government purpose.” Id. at 10 (emphasis added).
Under the circumstances in Laird, the Court reached a

“narrow conclusion,” namely, “that on this record the
- respondents have not presented a case for resolution by
the courts.” Id. at 15.

2 The Library did not suggest at trial that the FBI was
solely responsible for the investigation of Clark.

o O et i v
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In arriving at that conclusion, the Court emphasized
that the plaintiffs had challenged the mere existence of
the information-gathering system, and not any specific
action taken against them. “[T]heir claim, simply stated,
is that they disagree with the judgments made by the
Executive Branch with respect to the type and amount
of information the Army needs and that the very ewist-
ence of the Army’s data-gathering system produces a
constitutionally impermissible chilling effect upon the
exercise of their first amendment rights.” Id. at 13 (em-
phasis added). The Court noted that the plaintiffs failed
to explain the “precise connection between the mere ex-
istence of the challenged system and their alleged chill.”
Id. at 13 n.7. Morover, the Court took note of the plain-
tiffs’ concession that they themselves were not suffering
from any chill and that they were attempting to repre-
sent others not so courageous as themselves. Id. The
Court stated that the plaintiffs could not under such cir-
cumstances establish “that ‘personal stake in the out-
come of the controversy’ essential to standing.” Id. (quot-
ing Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 204 (1962)).

Clark, in contrast, involves a targeted investigation of
an individual based solely on the exercise of his associa-
tional rights resulting in concrete harms to his reputa-
tion and employment opportunities. Clark is claiming
that he suffered a present, objective harm, as well as an
objective chill of his first amendments rights," and not
merely alleging a potential subjective chill as in Laird.

¢ In Socialist Workers Party v. Attorney General, 510 F.2d
253 (2d Cir. 1974), the Second Circuit, in holding that plain-
tiffs’ request for an injunction preventing the FBI from moni-

toring a Young Socialist Alliance convention was not justici-

able, sustained an injunction prohibiting the FBI from trans-
mitting the names of persons attending the convention. The
Court held that the transmittal of these names constituted an
objective chill sufficient to warrant the injunction. 6§10 F.2d
at 257. Similarly, the direct injury and objective. chill in-
curred by Clark are more than sufficient to place this case
outside the limitations imposed by Laird.
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Furthermore, Clark has alleged that the investigation
led to the Library’s failure to promote him to any of the
numerous positions for which he applied and for which
the Library concedes he was qualified. This is clearly an

allegation of direct injury, and Clark is entitled to a -

determination of the lawfulness of the investigation. For
unless the investigation was unlawful, Clark has no basis
upon which to proceed with his theory that it led to his
failure to be promoted in violation of his first amend-
ment rights.

Finally, in holding that the Laird case was not jus-
ticiable, the court was concerned with avoiding a situa-

tion where the ‘“federal courts [are] virtually continuing |

monitors of the wisdom and soundness of Executive ac-
tion.” Laird, 408 U.S. at 15.

Stripped to its essentials, what respondents appear
to be seeking is a broad-scale investigation, conducted
by themselves as private parties armed with the
subpoena power of a federal district court and the
power of cross-examination to probe into the Army’s

intelligence-gathering activities, with the district

court determining at the conclusion of that investiga-
tion the extent to which those activities may or may
not be appropriate to the Army’s mission.

Id. at 14. No such role is foisted upon the Court in the
instant case.

In the civilian context of this case, the equivalent of
the plaintiff’s complaint in Laird would have been a chal-
lenge by Clark to the very existence of the FBI’s civilian
employee investigative system and a demand that the
court assist him in a broadscale investigation of the
propriety of the overall employee-suitability investigatory
activities of the FBL* Clark makes no such claim. He

* We note that the Supreme Court in Laird stated that the
identity of the parties named as defendants, t.e., military or
civil, was irrelevant to the resolution of the jurisdictional
question. Laird, 408 U.S. at 11 n.6.
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based his claim on a significantly intrusive investigation
for which he alone was singled out by the Library on the
basis of his peaceful association with a lawful political
organization. The Supreme Court would have to have
gone considerably further than it did in Laird in order
to bar Clark’s claim in this case. We thus hold that Clark
has presented this court with a justiciable controversy.®
We must therefore turn to the question of whether the
investigation carried out against Clerk can be justified
under applicable constitutional doctrine.

~ The first amendment protects the rights of all citizens,
including government employees, to hold political beliefs
and belong to lawful political parties and associations.
Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 847, 856-60 (1976). See Smith
V. Arkansas State Highway Employees, 441 U.S. 463,
465 (1979) (per curiam); Pickering V. Board of Educa-~
tion, 891 U.S. 563, 574-76 (1968). Like other citizens,
government employees also have a constitutional right to
form political beliefs and lawful associations without
governmental intrusion or compelled disclosure. Buckley
v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 64 (1976) (per curiam) (*“com-
pelled disclosure, in itself, can seriously infringe on pri-
vacy of association and belief guaranteed by the First
Amendment”), Significant impairments of these first
amendment rights must withstand exacting scrutiny and
may not be justified on a showing of a mere legitimate .
state interest. Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. at 362; Buckley
V. Valeo, 424 U.S. at 64; Kusper V. Pontikes, 414 U.S.
51, 68 (1973). Exacting scrutiny is especially appro-
priate where the government action is motivated solely
by an individual’s lawful beliefs or associations, for gov-

% Insofar as Clark requests an injunction against further
investigations of him should he rejoin the Libary, his request
is premature. The potential injury is too speculative. “In-
junctions . . . will not issue to prevent injuries neither extant
nor presently threatened, but merely ‘feared.’” Exxon Corp.
v. Federal Trade Commission, 589 F.2d 582, 694 (D.C. Cir.
1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 943 (1979).
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srnment action so predicated is imbued with the potential
for subtle coercion of the individual to abandon his con-
:roversial beliefs or associations. Whether or not the gov-
srnment intended to punish or coerce the individual can-
not be the sole test of legitimacy in such governmental
action. Where the government’s action inflicts a palpable
injury on the individual because of his lawful beliefs, it
has the direct and consequent effect of chilling his rights
to freedom of belief and association. For these reasons,
the Supreme Court has held such governmental actions
may be justified only upon a showing of a paramount or
vital governmental interest. Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. at
362. The burden is on the government to show the exist-
ence of such an interest. Id. Moreover, the government
must demonstrate that the means chosen to further its
compelling interest are those least restrictive of freedom
of belief and association. Id. at 362-3. “This type of
scrutiny is necessary even if any deterrent effect on the
exercise of First Amendment rights arises, not through
direct government action, but indirectly as an unintended
but inevitable result of the government’s conduct.” Id. at
862 (quoting Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. at 65).
“[Wlhen a State attempts to make inquiries about a per-
son’s beliefs or associations, its power is Jimited by the
First Amendment. Broad and sweeping state inquiries
into these protected areas . .. discourage citizens from
exercising rights protected by the Constitution.” Baird
V. State Bar of Arizona, 401 U.S. 1 (1971) (plurality
opinion). The full field investigation carried out against
Clark constituted a “broad and sweeping inquiry” into
Clark’s political beliefs and associations and must be
justified under the standard outlined above. The Library
must show that the investigation was necessary to serve
a vital governmental interest and that the full field in-
vestigation was the available means least restrictive of
Clark’s first amendment rights.

11

A. Request for Full Field Investigation -

In analyzing the decision of the district court it is
important to note what this case does not involve. This is
not a case of a routine security investigation of a govern-
ment employee.®* Furthermore, this case does not involve
an employee in a sensitive position requiring a security
clearance. What we are confronted with here is a situa-
tion of a non-sensitive employee with no access to classi-
fied materials, singled out for an extraordinary investi-
gation on the basis of information received by the Li-
brary to the effect that he was associated with a lawful
political group.

Under the standard set forth above, the Library could
justify an investigation of the sort at issue here if it
could show that the investigation was necessary for the
protection of national security. The Library failed com-
pletely, however, to demonstrate that Clark posed any
national security risk whatsoever. Indeed, the Library’s
own designation of Clark’s reshelver position as non-
sensitive precludes such a demonstration. As the Su-
preme Court noted in Cole v. Young, 361 U.S. 536, 546
(1956), “employees who are not in ‘sensitive positions

¢ Upon entry on duty at the Library, Clark had been sub-
jected to a national agency check (“NAC”), the standard
investigation conducted on all non-sensitive government em-
ployees upon the commencement of employment. A national
agency check consists of a check of the FBI's fingerprint and
investigative files, the Civil Service Commission’s investiga-
tive files, and the files of the House Committee on Internal
Security. Federal Personnel Manual Ch. 736, Subch. 1-2(e).
Applicants for “critical” and “non-critical” sensitive positions
are likewise subjected to national agency checks. Executive
Order 10450 § 3(a) (1953). In addition, applicants for non-
critical sensitive positions may, in the discretion of the rele-
vant agency head, be required to undergo full field investiga-
tions. Federal Personnel Manual Ch. 786, Subchs. 1-4, 2-3(a).
Applicants for critical sensitive positions must be subjected
téo tf)l(l:“ field mv&hgatlons Federal Personnel Manual Ch. 736,

ubch. 1-4,
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. are . . . not situated where they could bring about
any discernible adverse effects on the Nation’s security.” 7
Moreover, the Library did not attempt to set forth any
facts whatever which might indicate any way in which
Clark could have posed a security risk.®

Indeed, the trial tegtimony of the Library’s own per-
sonnel security officers indicated that non-sensitive em-
ployees pose no security risk.® Thus, rather than demon-
strating that the Library had a vital interest in investi-
gating Clark in order to avoid his becoming a national
security risk, the facts here indicate that Clark posed no
national security risk and was situated no differently
than the general public with respect to national security
concerns,

Apart from security concerns, which are limited to
sensitive employees, the Library has a legitimate interest
in the suitability of all its employees wtih respect to their
“loyalty” to the government.!® A government employee

7The Federal Personnel Manual, upon which the Library

relies to justify the investigation here, states that “[q]ues-
tions of security do not arise [with respect to] employees who
occupy nonsensitive positions.” Federal Personnel Manual,
Chapter 731, Subch. 1-2(a).

8In response to an interrogatory asking whether Clark
might in any way have threatened national security, the Li-

brary stated that imagining any such danger would be “specu-~
lative.”

® The Library called no witnesses during the trial of this
case and made no attempt to introduce any evidence to show
that Clark might have become asecurity risk.

10 The Library’s alleged concern over Clark’s loyalty is the
only possible basis upon which the Library could conceivably
argue that the full field investigation was justified. As noted
above, security concerns were not raised with respect to Clark,
and his political beliefs and associations had no other bearing
upon his job performance. See Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. at
3656 (“it is doubtful that the mere difference of political per-
suasion motivates poor performance [in a non-policymaking
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may be dismissed for disloyalty, but only if the employee
is a knowing member of an organization that advocates
the violent or forceful overthrow of the government and
the employee has the specific intent to act unlawfully.
Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 3856 U.S. 589, 606-610
(1967). See also Elfbrandt v. Russell, 384 U.S, 11, 17,
19 (1966) (“Those who join an organization but do
not share its unlawful purposes and who do not par-
ticipate in its unlawful activities surely pose no threat,
either as citizens or as public employees. ... A law
which applies to membership without the ‘specific intent’
to further the illegal aims of the organization infringes
unnecessarily on protected freedoms.”).

Although the grounds justifying an investigation into
the loyalty of a government employee must be broader
than those justifying an employee’s dismissal on loyalty
grounds,? in the instant case the Library had no reason
to believe that any of the elements which must exist in
order to justify the dismissal of an employee on loyalty
grounds were present. The only information upon which

-the Library based its request for the FBI investigation

of Clark was the fact that Clark was a member of the
District of Columbia chapter of the YSA. Since, as the
Supreme Court noted in Brown V. Social Workers 47
Campaign Committee (Ohio), 4569 U.S. 87, 88 (1982),

position] ; nor do we think it legitimately may be used as a
basis for imputing such behavior”’; “mere political persuasion
is an inadequate basis for imputing disposition to ill-willed
conduct”). Moreover, the Library had no information relating
to non-political matters, e.g., alcoholism, which could have
justified any concern about Clark’s suitability for continued
employment.

11 Cf. Barenblatt v. United States, 360 U.S. 109, 130 (1959)
(“the strict requirements of a prosecution under the Smith
Act . .. are not the measure of the permissible scope of Con-
gress:ona.l investigation into “overthrow,” for of necessity the
investigatory process must proceed step by step”).
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“the SWP does not advocate the use of violence,” *? the
Library had no grounds to believe Clark was a member,
knowing or not, of an organization advocating the violent
overthrow of the government and. therefore no basis to
request an FBI investigation of Clark on loyalty grounds.
In no case has a full field investigation of a non-sensitive
employee been sanctioned by a court on the ground that
the employee was a member of a lawful political party
that does not espouse violence, but rather seeks to achieve
social change through the political process.

The two cases relied upon by the district court are in-
apposite to the case at hand. Anonymous V. Kissinger,
499 F.2d 1097 (D.C. Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 420 U.S.
990 (1975), one of the cases relied upon the district
court involved a challenge to the dismissal of a temporary

13 Accord, Scythes v. Webb, 307 F.2d 905, 909 (7th Cir.
1962). Although Joseph Love, one of the Library personnel
security officers responsible for Clark’s case, testified that at

the time the investigation request was made he had a “vague.

recollection’” that the SWP contained a minority faction called
the “international tendency” with espoused the use of violence,
Mr. Love stated that this recollection was “immaterial” to the
Library’s decision to request the FBI investigation of Clark.
Mr. Love further testified that at the time the investigation
request was made, he did not know any specific facts concern-
ing the alleged “internationalist tendency” nor did he even
know whether the alleged “‘tendency’” had been active in Wash-
ington, D.C. George Stringer, the other Library personnel
security officer responsible for Clark’s case and the officer who
signed the request for the investigation, did not testify to any
knowledge of the alleged minority faction and the Library
introduced no evidence at trial to support any finding of its
actual existence. Moreover, even if the Library had been con-
cerned about the character of the YSA, the Library could not
have initiated a full field investigation of Clark on the basis of
vague recollection that the YSA contained a minority faction
espousing violence, but would have been compelled simply to
request more information from the FBI concerning the ex-
istence and activity of the alleged faction in the Washington,
D.C. area. This would clearly have been a means of inquiry
far less burdensome of Clark’s first amendment rights,
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employee from a sensitive position in the Department of
State. The employee in Kisgsinger had been appointed
pursuant to an “Emergency Appointment to Sensitive
Position Pending Completion of Full Field Investigation.”
Id. at 1098. During a routine security investigation, the
employee admitted that he had resorted to psychiatric
counseling on several occasions. The government there-
upon requested the employee to submit to psychiatric
examination. The employee refused to do so. Citing this
refusal to cooperate as the basis for its action, the gov-
ernment dismissed the employee. The employee chal-
lenged the dismissal solely on the basis that he had been
denied the due process of law because the ground given
for the dismissal—refusal to cooperate—allegedly lacked
support. This court held that the grounds given for dis-
missal were well supported and hence found no denial of
due process. In the course of its opinion, the court noted
that the employee’s admitted resort to psychiatric coun-
seling “furnished a reasonable basis for the agency to
explore further the emotional stability of [the employee]
for the sensitive position involved.” Id. at 1102 (em-
phasis added).

Several factors clearly set the Kissinger case apart

‘from the case at hand. First, the only claim raised in

the Kissinger case was one for denial of due process, on
the theory that the employee was dismissed in an arbi-
trary and discriminatory fashion. No first amendment
claim was involved. No challenge was made to the in-
vestigation on the ground that the employee was im-
properly singled out for investigation solely on the basis
of his lawful political associations. The finding of this
court in Kissinger that the employee’s admitted seeking
of psychiatric counseling constituted a permissible ground
for further investigation provides no support for the
proposition that Clark’s association with a lawful po-
litical group constituted such a ground.

Moreover, the Kissinger case involved a routine secu-
rity investigation of a sensitive employee, The standards
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verning the permissible grounds for investigation of
nsitive employees, particularly routine investigations,
e very different from those governnig the grounds
stifying investigation of non-sensitive employees, as
ark admittedly was. See generally Executive Order
)450, Federal Personnel Manual Chapter 736; Library

Congress Regulations~§§ 2024-4, 2024-6. The grounds
stifying investigation of sensitive employees, who by
finition are capable of compromsing national security
7 virtue of their positions, must be considerably broader
an those justifying the investigation of non-sensitive
nployees, about whom “[q]luestions of security do not
rise.,” Federal Personnel Manual Ch. 731, Subchapter
2(a). See also Cole v. Young, 351 U.S. 536, 546
1956) (“employees who are not in ‘sensitive’ positions
. . are . . . not situated where they could bring about
ny discernible adverse effects on the Nation’s security”).
n sum, the finding of this court in Kissinger that a sen-
itive employee was properly subjected to investigation
nto his emotional stability on the basis of his admitted
esort to psychiatric counseling provides no support for
he conclusion that Clark, a non-sensitive employee, was
roperly subjected to an investigation on the basis of his
issociation with a lawful political group.

Gayer V. Schlesinger, 490 ¥.2d 740 (D.C. Cir. 1973),
the other case relied upon by the district court, is equally
napplicable to the case at hand for the same reasons as
is Kissinger. Gayer involved a challenge by three homo-
sexuals employed in the defense industry to withdrawal
of their security clearance. In Gayer, the court noted
that the Defense Department could properly “continue to
review [the employees’] eligibility for clearance” and
that the government was “entitled to develop the kind of
deviant sexual life the applicant lives.” Id. at 751-52.
Again, the case did not address the issue whether law-
ful political associations may constitute permissible
grounds for investigation of non-sensitive employees, and
provides no support for the lower court’s position.
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The district court declined to decide whether, on the
facts of this case, Clark’s constitutional rights were vio-
lated by either the initiation or the scope of the investi-
gation. Instead, the district court accepted as a prem-
ise that the government had a right to make at least
“some inquiry into the employee’s suitability,” and then
proceeded to hold that even if the scope of the investiga-
tion was unreasonably intrusive, the FBI, not the Li-
brary, was at fault. Given the facts of this case, there
can be no escape from making a determination of whether
permissible grounds existed for the initiation of the in-
vestigation, The Library’s request for a full field inves-
tigation of Clark was predicated solely on the basis of
Clark’s membership in a lawful political organization.
Thus, on the record before us, the Library failed to estab-
lish any permissible justification for initiating the inves-
tigation. Since this case must be remanded to the district
court for further consideration of the Library’s liability
for the unreasonably intrusive scope of the investigation,
the Library will be afforded an opportunity to offer addi-
tional evidence establishing permissible grounds for ini-
tiating the investigation.

B. Scope of Investigation

We now turn to the second prong of the district court’s
decision on Clark’s first amendment claim, namely, that
given the premise that some form of investigation was -
appropriate, the FBI, and not the Library, was respon-
sible if the investigation was unreasonably intrusive or
inhibiting. The district court cited no authority for this
holding and this court has found none. There can be no
doubt that the Library was responsible for the entire
scope of the investigation at issue here.

Upon receipt of information that Clark was associated
with the YSA, the Library specifically requested the FBI
to engage in a five-point investigation into Clark’s politi-
cal beliefs and associations and any other information
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that could “otherwise reflect adversely on his suitability
for continued Federal employment.” ** Moreover, the
testimony of Personnel Security Officers Love and
Stringer, the persons who respectively drafted and signed
the investigation request, indicated .that at the time they
made the request, both expected a full field investigation
to be carried out.

Principles of tort law are applicable in suits involving
alleged violations of constitutional rights. See, e.g., Hal-
perin V. Kissinger, 606 F.2d 1192, 1207-08 (D.C. Cir.
1979), aff’d in part and cert, dismissed in part, 452 U.S.
713 (1981). Under applicable tort principles, the Li-
brary, by virtue of the manner in which it induced the
FBI investigation and its expectation that a full field
investigation would in fact be carried out, became respon-
sible for the full scope of the investigation conducted on
Clark. Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 303, 877.

When as here, an investigation is motivated solely by
an individual's political beliefs or associations, the gov-

ernment must tailor its investigation so that it is the.

least restrictive means of achieving its compelling inter-
est. Thus, the government had an obligation to limit the
investigation to that which would least harm Clark’s
reputation and chance for future employment while still
yielding information about his loyalty. Although this
court generally will not sit as a monitor of the scope of
FBI investigations, the facts of the present case obligate
the court to review whether the investigation of Clark
was appropriately tailored to achieve legitimate govern-
ment, purposes while minimizing any harm to Clark as a
result of exercising his first amendment rights.

The full field investigation of Clark was not authorized
by any administrative regulation. The investigation was

18 See note 1 supra for text of this request. Note that the
July 21, 1976, FBI report of the full field investigation ex-
plicitly stated “this investigation is being conducted at the
specific request of the Library of Congress.”
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not sanctioned by Executive Order 10450 (Security Re-
quirements for Government Employees) (April 27, 1953).
Except for routine national agency checks,’* Executive
Order 10450 requires investigations only in cases where
information is received indicating that the retention of
an employee “may not be clearly consistent with the in-
terests of national security.,” Executive Order 10450, § 5.
In fact, Executive Order 10450, § 3(a) appears to au-
thorize a full field investigation only for national security
reasons and even suggests a less intrusive investigation
if consistent with national security. As noted above, se-
curity concerns were not raised in this case'® There-
fore, the FBI investigation was inappropriate under sec-
tions 5 & 3(a) of the Executive Order.!®

The Federal Personnel Manual provides that a govern-

- ment employee may be dismissed on loyalty grounds (as -

distinguished from security grounds) if he is a knowing
member of an organization seeking the violent overthrow
of the government.”” However, nowhere does the Manual
authorize investigation on the basis of information that
an employee is a member of a lawful political organiza-

14 See supra note 6.

18 In addition to the facts set forth at notes 7-9 and accom-
panying text, supra, note that Personnel Security Officer Love
testified that the Library’'s concern about Clark was not re-
lated to national security, but solely to his loyalty.

18 Federal Personnel Manual, Ch. 736, Subch. 1-2(c) defines
full field investigations as investigations to determine whether
employment is consistent with national security. Full field in-
vestigations are required for critical-sensitive positions but are
not required for noncritical-sensitive positions; only a national
agency check is required for a nonsensitive employee. See note
6 supra.

17 To the extent that this provision sanctions dismissal in
the absence of specific intent to further the violent overthrow
of the government, it is inconsistent with applicable constitu-
tional doctrine. Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 386 U.S. 689
(1967).
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tion that does not espouse the violent overthrow of the
government. The Federal Personnel Manual, Ch. 736,
Subeh. 3-2 states that if information develops indicating
that an employee in a non-sensitive position is ‘‘unsuit-
able,” a “limited personal investigation [which will]
[o]rdinarily . . . not be the equivalent of a full field in-
vestigation . . .” will be undertaken, This investigation
“will be limited to verifying or disproving the informa-
tion which may be disqualifying.” Id. Putting aside the
point that Clark’s membership in the YSA—an associa-
tional activity protected under the first amendment—
could not be “disqualifying,” the Library exceeded its au-
thority under the relevant administrative regulations by
causing a full field investigation to be initiated. The
regulations clearly contemplated a significantly less in-
trusive type of investigation and provided the mechanism
for such an investigation.'®

In conclusion, the Library has failed to demonstrate
the existence of any legitimate, much less compelling
justification for the full field investigation of Clark. It
is unquestionable that investigations such as the one at
issue here are justifiable under certain circumstances,
especially in cases of persons in sensitive positions. How-
ever, to hold that the full field investigation of Clark
was justified on the basis of the record here would be to
sanction intrusive and injurious investigations initiated

on the basis of minimal information regarding an em-

ployee’s association with a lawful political group, no mat-
ter how menial or inconsequential the position of the em-
ployee might be, '

B ]

18 The Federal Personnel Manual, Appendix C, establishes
guidelines for “Avoiding Unwarranted Invasion of Privacy”
in conducting full field investigations for critical sensitive posi-
tions. For example, investigators are not authorized to inquire
about religious or political affiliations unless directly related to
security fitness, and are prohibited from inquiring about sex-
ual conduct in the absence of specific allegations of misconduct.
The investigation of Clark included inquiries into all of these
areas,
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The district court’s judgment on this claim is reversed.
The claim is remanded to the district court for further
proceedings consistent with this opinion.

I11. T};E FAILURE TO PROMOTE

Clark claims that his failure to obtain any of the
forty relatively low-level positions for which he applied
during 1977 through 1979 was the result of his disfavored
political association with the YSA and the investigation
into that association.

Clark offered no direct evidence at trial bearing on the
reasons for his failure to be hired for any of the posi-
tions for which he applied. Rather, Clark relied on the
following to support his claim: (1) evidence that he ap-
plied for 40 low-level positions, for 17 of which the Li-
brary concedes he was qualified; (2) evidence allegedly
showing that Clark not only met the minimum qualifica-
tions for the positions in question, but also that he should
have been a strong candidate for the positions (good work
record, four to six years Library experience, college de-
gree); (3) evidence that he had been a member of an
unpopular political group and that he had been investi-
gated because of that association; (4) a circumstantial
explication of the possible manner in which the investiga-
tion may have led to his rejection, namely, that because
of their having been questioned about Clark by the FBI .
and because of the speculation about Clark that allegedly
spread throughout the Library in the wake of the inves-
tigation, Clark’s supervisors may have developed doubts
about Clark’s maturity, judgment, responsibility and the

19 Evidence was introduced at trial to the effect that the
FBI conducted extensive questioning of. Clark’s co-workers and
supervisors during business hours at the Library, that this
questioning was regarded by Library personnel as an unusual
event and included questions regarding Clark’s loyalty, his ac-
tivities while on vacation, and his sexual preference, and that
rumors and gossip about Clark spread through the Library as
a result of the investigation.
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like ‘and therefore recommended him less highly for the
positions for which he applied than they otherwise would
have;® and (5) a statistical analysis allegedly showing
that the odds were only 12 out of 100 that Clark would
have been rejected as a matter of chance for all 17 posi-
tions for which the Library conceded he was qualified.
Clark’s statistical analysis, the linchpin of his discrimina-
tion case, is built upon a principle of statistics known as
the multiplication rule. Clark alleges that his statistical
analysis demonstrates that there was nearly an 88 per-
cent probability that some factor other than chance ex-
plained the repeated rejections of Clark’s applications.
Clark maintains that this “other factor” was his associa-
tion with the YSA and the unlawful investigation into
that association.

The Library presented no evidence to rebut Clark’s
case on the discrimination claim. In particular, the Li-
brary made no attempt to show any deficiency on Clark’s
part, any better qualifications on the part of those chosen
over him or any other reason to explain its failures to
appoint Clark to any of the forty positions for which he
applied. Rather, the Library argued that Clark’s statis-
tical analysis could not be admitted without its presenta-
tion through expert testimony.

The district court dismissed this claim on the ground
that Clark’s statistical analysis was flawed since Clark
failed to prove that those chosen over him were not also

2 There is no evidence to support Clark’s theory that one or
more of the selecting officials who rejected Clark’s applications
were aware of Clark’s political associations or of the investiga-
tion. However, it is possible that the selecting officials were
influenced by the presence of an “Adjudication of Investiga-
tion” form in Clark’s personnel file, which the selecting official
would presumably have reviewed in deciding on Clark’s appli-
cations. This form stated that “[a]s a result of an evaluation
of the investigative file concerning [Clark], it has been deter-
mined that [he] is suitable for retention in... [8] [n]onsensi-
tive position.” )

23

persons holding disfavored political beliefs. In arriving
at this holding, the district court apparently applied a
principle used in Title VII case? A plaintiff in a Title
VII race discrimination case may not prevail if it is
demonstrated that those chosen over him were members
of the same racial minority as the plaintiff. There are
several problems with the district court’s application of
this principle here. First, it was inappropriate to place
the burden of demonstrating the political orientation of
the chosen applicants upon Clark in view of the fact that
the Library, which certainly had better access than Clark
to such information, refused to provide this information
in response to Clark’s discovery requests. Second, the
political orientation of the chosen applicants is of doubt-
ful relevance in the context of this case. In a Title VII
race discrimination case, the employer presumably knows
the race of the chosen applicants. Here, however, it is '
unlikely that the Library knew the political orientation
of the chosen applicants.? The relevant issue here, then,
is not whether the chosen applicants were also members
of unpopular groups or held unpopular views, but rather
whether Clark was in a position different from these ap-
plicants because he had been subjected to an unlawful
investigation that had placed him under a cloud of sus-
picion. Thus, the reasons given by the district court for

21 A plaintiff in a Title VII case establishes a prima facie
case of discrimination by showing (1) that he belongs to a
minority; (2) that he applied for and was qualified for an
open job; (8) that he was rejected; and (4) that thereafter
the employer continued to seek similar applicants. McDonnell
Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973);
Parker v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company, 6562 F.2d 1012,
1016-17 (D.C. Cir. 1981).

22 The Library claimed that it would be unduly burdensome
and that it would invade the privacy of the chosen applicants
if it were required to produce this information.

28 This - is true because only post-appointment national
agency checks are conducted on applicants for non-sensitive
positions.
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dismissing Clark’s employment discrimination claim were
erroneous. The district court’s judgment on this claim
must be reversed and the claim must be remanded for
consideration of whether Clark met his burden of proof
ander the standard applicable to first amendment-based
employment discrimipation claims.

The standard applicable in this case was set forth by
the Supreme Court in Mt. Healthy City School District
Board of Education v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1977),*
Under the Mt. Healthy standard, a plaintiff must prove
that conduct protected by the first amendment was a
“gubstantial” or “motivating” factor in the employer’s
decision not to act favorably on the plaintiff’s application.
Id. at 287. Once the plaintiff has met this burden, the
burden shifts to the employer to demonstrate that the
protected conduct was not the “but for” cause of the ad-
verse hiring decision, .e., that the employer would have
reached the same decision even in the absence of the pro-
tected conduct. Id. Thus, Clark must demonstrate that
his constitutionally protected association with the YSA
or the unlawful investigation that arose out of that asso-
ciation was a substantial or motivating factor in the
Library’s decision not to appoint Clark to any of the posi-
tions for which he applied.® If the district court deter-
mines that Clark has met this burden, judgment must be
entered for Clark on this claim in view of the Library’s
failure to make any attempt to rebut Clark’s case.

% In Mt. Healthy, a teacher was allegedly dismissed because
he criticized his school’s administrative policy.

3 Clark need only show that his protected association or the
investigation that arose out of that association was a “sub-
stantial” factor in the Library’s failure to promote him. He
need not demonstrate that the failure to promote was based
solely on an impermissible basis. McKinley v. City of Eloy,
705 F.2d 1110, 1115 (9th Cir. 1983) ; Bowen v. Watkins, 669
F.2d 979, 984-85 (bth Cir. 1982) ; Carmichael v. Chambers
County Board of Education, 581 F.2d 95, 97 (5th Cir, 1978).

2b

The Supreme Court has provided no guidance concern-
ing the manner in which the Mt. Healthy standard can
be met2® It is clear, however, that a plaintiff need not
present direct evidence, e.g., admissions of selecting offi-
cials, to meet his burden of showing that protected con-
duct was a substantial or motivating factor in the hiring
decision. In Allaire v. Rogers, 658 F.2d 1055, 1058-64
(6th Cir. 1981), cert. deniéd, 456 U.S. 928 (1982), the
Fifth Circuit sanctioned the plaintiff’s use of circum-
stantial, including statistical, evidence in satisfying the
Mt. Healthy test. See also Burris v. Willis Independent
School District, 713 F.2d 1087, 1095 (6th Cir. 1983)
(limited circumstantial evidence sufficient to support jury
verdict under Mt. Healthy standard). This court holds
that Clark may use such evidence in attempting to meet
the Mt. Healthy standard.

In evaluating Clark’s circumstantial and statistical
case, the district court must be mindful of the difficulties
of proof facing Clark. Here, as in most Title VII cases
as well, the reasons for the failure to hire? are within
the knowledge of the employer alone, and evidence of in-
tent is difficult to adduce. See Bell v. Birmingham Linen
Service, 715 F.2d 1652, 1656 (11th Cir. 1983). If upon
reconsideration the district court determines that Clark
has met his burden under Mt. Healthy, judgment must
be entered for Clark on this claim.?

28 In establishing the Mt. Healthy standard concerning the
plaintiff’'s burden in a first amendment-based employment dis-
crimination claim, the Supreme Court merely adopted, with-

out discussion, the standard applied by the District Court in
that case.

27 While we are mindful of the fact that in Clark’s case there
was a failure to promote rather than a failure to hire, the
same considerations apply in both situations under the Mt.
Healthy standard. Bowen v. Watkins, 669 F.2d 979 (5th Cir.
1982).

28 Clark claims that an implied cause of action should be
based on the Library of Congress Act, 2 U.S.C. § 140, which
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IV. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

The remaining question is whether Clark’s claims for
relief are barred by sovereign immunity. Clark seeks
non-monetary relief in the form of reinstatement to the
position he should have been promoted to, correction of
his personnel records- and an injunction against the de-
fendants prohibiting any future infringement of his
first amendment rights. Clark also seeks compensatory
and punitive damages.

With respect to Clark’s claims for non-monetary relief,
the 1976 amendments to § 702 of this Administrative
Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 702, eliminated the sovereign
immunity defense in all actions for non-monetary relief
against a U.S. agency or officer acting in an official
capacity. See Dronenburg v. Zech, 741 F.2d 1388, 1389-
91 & n.3 (D.C. Cir. 1984) ; Schnapper v. Foley, 667 F.2d
102, 107-08 (D.C. Cir. 1981); Sea-Land Service, Inc. V.
Alaska Railroad, 669 F.2d 243, 244 (D.C. Cir. 1981),
cert. denied, 456 U.S. 919 (1982). Section 702 provides,
in relevant part, that:

An action in a court of the United States seeking
relief other than money damages and stating a claim
that an agency or an officer or employee thereof
acted or failed to act in an official capacity or under
color of legal authority shall not be dismissed nor
relief therein be denied on the ground that it is
against the United States. . ..

Id. (emphasis added). Thus sovereign immunity pre-
sents no obstacle to Clark’s claims for non-monetary
relief.

provides that “[a]ll persons employed in and about said Li-
brary of Congress under the Librarian shall be appointed
solely with reference to their fitness for their particular du-
ties.” In view of the fact that Clark would have no greater
rights under such a cause of action than under his first
amendment-based employment discrimination claim, this court
need not decide whether an implied cause of action should be
based upon this statute.
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Whether Clark’s claims for monetary relief are barred
by sovereign immunity is a more difficult question.*
This is not a Bivens-type action where suit is brought
against a federal official in his individual capacity for
violations of a plaintifi’s constitutional rights* If a
plaintiff seeks to recover damages from a defendant in
his personal, individual capacity then there is no sov-
ereign immunity bar. Sovereign immunity, however, does
bar suits for money damages against officials in their
official capacity absent a specific waiver by the govern-
ment. See Holloman v. Watt, 708 F.2d 1399, 1401-02
(9th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 104 S. Ct. 2168 (1984);
Keene Corp. v. United States, 700 F.2d 836, 845 (2d
Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 104 S. Ct. 195 (1983) ; Sanchez-
Mariant v. Elingwood, 691 F.2d 6592, 596 (1st Cir.
1982) ; Huntington Towers, Ltd. v. Franklin National
Bank, 569 F.2d 863, 869-70 (2d Cir. 1977), cert. denied,
434 U.S. 1012 (1978); Inupiat Community of Arctic
Slope v. United States, 680 F.2d 122, 131 (Ct. Cl. 1982),
cert. denied, 459 U.S. 969 (1982). Since Clark’s suit is
against the Librarian, in his official capacity, sovereign

immunity would appear to bar recovery of money
damages.

2 “The explicit exclusion of monetary relief makes it clear
that sovereign immunity is abolished only in actions for spe-
cific relief (injunction, declaratory judgment, mandatory re-
lief, etc.).” C. Wright, A. Miller, E. Cooper, 14 Federal Prac-
tice and Procedure § 3665, at 29 (Supp. 1982). See also Mc-
Cartin v. Norton, 674 F.2d 1317 (9th Cir. 1982) (recognizing
waiver of sovereign immunity with respect to EEQOC employ-
ee’s claims for reinstatement and consideration for promotion
but stating no comparable waiver allowing a claim for dam-

ages).

% Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents, 403 U.S. 888
(1971). Officials sued in their individual capacity in a Bivens-
type action have a qualified immunity defense if they acted in
good faith. Butz v. Economou, 438 U.S. 478 (1978). Since this
is not a Bivens-type action, we need not address the question
of qualified immunity. ‘
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Clark, however, argues that his claims fall within two
recognized exceptions to the applicability of the sovereign

immunity doctrine in suits against government officers
sued in their official capacities.®* _The Supreme Court, in

8! These two exceptions do not apply when the suit is brought
directly against the United States rather than against a gov-
ernment official. See Dugan v. Rank, 372 U.S. 609, 621-22
(1963) ; De Lao v. Califano, 560 F.2d 1384, 1390-91 (9th Cir.
1977). Since the United States has not consented to this type
of suit, Clark is barred from pursuing his claims for monetary
relief directly against the Library.

While Congress has authorized a broad waiver of sovereign
immunity in the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1491, 1346(a) (2)
(giving jurisdiction to the Court of Claims—with concurrent
jurisdiction to the district court if the claim does not exceed
$10,000—to “render judgment upon any claim against the
United States founded . . . upon the Constitution . . .”), the
Act does not expose the Library or the Librarian to liability in
this case. In the United States v. Testan, 424 U.S. 392, 398
(1976), the Supreme Court stated that the Tucker Act “is
itself only a jurisdictional statute; it does not create any sub-
stantive right enforceable against the United States for money

damages.” The substantive right to damages must be found
elsewhera.

Even assuming that Clark’s failure to waive recovery in ex-
cess of $10,000 is not fatal to the District Court’s jurisdiction
(Cf. Stone v. United States, 683 F.2d 449, 454 n.8 (D.C. Cir.
1982) ), there can be no Tucker Act jurisdiction over his
claims, In a case such as this, where “claimant is not suing
for money improperly exacted or retained,” the issue is

whether the constitutional or statutory provision relied upon
- “can be fairly interpreted as mandating compensation by the

Federal Government for the damage sustained.” United States
v. Testan, 424 U.S. 392, 400 (1976) (citing Eastport S.S.
Corp. v. United States, 178 Ct. Cl. 599, 607, 372 F.2d 1002,
1008-09 (1967)). The courts have uniformly held that juris-
diction under the “founded upon the constitution” grant of the
Tucker Act is limited to claims under the “takings clause” of
the Fifth Amendment. See, e.g., Radin v. United States, 699
F.2d 681, 685 n.8 (4th Cir. 1983) ; Duarte v. United States,
632 F.2d 850 (2d Cir. 1976) (sovereign immunity barred claim
for damages under Tucker Act for due process violations) ;
- Feathergill v. United States, 217 Ct. Cl. 24, 32-33 (1978) (no
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Larson V. Domestic and Foreign Corp., 337 U.S. 682,

689-91 (1949), stated that sovereign immunity does not
bar suits against government officials where the chal-
lenged actions of the officials are unconstitutional or be-
yond the official’s statutory authority. Clark claims the
Librarian’s actions were both ultra vires and uncon-
stitutjonal. He asserts that his political associations and
the investigation into those associations were considered
in connection with his job applications in violation of the
Library of Congress Act, 2 U.S.C. §140. Clark also
clams that the full field investigation and the subsequent
failure to promote him to any of the positions for which
he applied constituted violations of his first amendment
rights. See CCCO Western Region v. Fellows, 359 F.
Supp. 644, 648 (N.D. Cal. 1972) (allegations of infringe-
ments of first amendment rights brings suit within Lar-
son exception to sovereign immunity doctrine).

Even if the Librarian’s actions were both ulira vires
and unconstitutional, sovereign immunity would still bar
Clark’s claims for monetary relief because these two ex-
ceptions are only applicable to suits for specific, non-
monetary relief. The Supreme Court prefaced its dis-
cussion of these two exceptions by stating: “There may
be, of course, suits for specific relief against officers of
the sovereign . . . .” Larson, 337 U.S. at 689 (emphasis
added). The Court explicitly noted: ‘“Of course, a suit
may fail, . . . even if it is claimed that the officer being
sued has acted unconstitutionally or beyond his statutory
powers, if the relief requested can not be granted by
merely ordering the cessation of the conduct complained
of but will require affirmative action by the sovereign or
the disposition of unquestionably sovereign property.”
Id. at 691 n.11, These exceptions have been applied only
in suits for specific relief., See, e.g., Dugan V. Rank,
372 U.S. 609, 622 (1963) (In cases of wultra wvires or

jurisdiction over claim for damages based upon alleged viola-
tion of first amendment rights).
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unconstitutional actions “the officer’s action ‘can be made
the basis of a suit for specific relief against the of-
ficer . . . .””) (quoting Malone v. Bowdoin, 369 U.S.
643, 647 (1962)); Unimex, Inc. V. Department of Hous-
ing and Urban Development, 594 F.2d 1060, 1061-62
(6th Cir. 1979) (Even if officials’ actions were ultra
vires “that claim weuld entitle the plaintiff to specific
relief only, and not to monetary damages.”)®* Hence,
Clark may not rely on the ultra vires or unconstitutional
acts exceptions to avoid the sovereign immunity bar to
his request for monetary relief. Sovereign immunity bars

Clark’s claims for compensatory and punitive damages.®®

32 We found only one case citing Larson for the proposition
that officials engaging in unconstitutional acts beyond the
scope of their authority may be subject to suits for damages.
See J.D, Pflaumer v. United States Department of Justice, 450
F. Supp. 1125, 11832 (E.D. Pa. 1978). However, the court
speaks of sovereign immunity not barring suits against the
“individual defendants” and it is unclear from the opinion
whether the court means a plaintiff can seek damages against

the officials in their official capacity or only in their individual .

capacity. In any case, we follow the view supported by the
weight of authority that the Larson exceptions to soverexgn
immunity apply only in suits for apecific relief,

' & Martinez v. Marshall, 578 F.2d 656 (9th Cir. 1977), cited
‘by Clark, is not inconsistent with this limitation. In Martinez,
the court invoked the ultra vires exception and held that sov-
ereign immunity did not bar an action (1) to enjoin a govern-
ment official from recouping an overpayment of unemployment
asgistance benefits and (2) to compel the official to repay
money improperly recouped. The relief sought by plaintiffs
.was, in essence, specific relief. See also De Lao v. Califano,
560 F.2d 1384, 1890-91 (9th Cir. 1977).

It is somewhat unclear from Clark’s complaint whether he is
seeking, in addition to reinstatement to the position he should
have been promoted to, back pay retroactive to the date he
should have been promoted. We note, however, that there is
authority for the proposition that a claim for retroactive back
pay is barred unless there is an explicit waiver of sovereign
immunity. See McNutt v. Hllls, 426 F. Supp 990, 1001-02
(D D.C. 1977) ,

V. CONCLUSION -

: " The full field investigation of Clark constituted a broad
. and sweeping inquiry into Clark’s political beliefs and

associations. Such an investigation must be justified by
a showing that the investigation was necessary to serve
a vital governmental interest and that the full field in-
vestigation was the means least restrictive of Clark’s

first amendment rights. Clark’s first amendment -claim .
is remanded to the district court for further considera-
tion consistent with this standard. Clark’s employment -
discrimination claim is also remanded to the district court
for further consideration consistent with the standard for
first amendment-based employment discrimination claims
set forth in Mt. Healthy City School Digtrict Board of
Education v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1973). On remand,
specific non-monetary relief in the form of an injunc--

_tion, correction of records, or reinstatement may be avail-

able agamst both the Library and the Librarian but re-
lief in -the form of damages is barred by soverelgn_
immunity.

Reversed and Remanded .











































